IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

TRENT DORA

APPELLANT

V.

NO. 2008--KA-01914-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLANT TRENT DORA

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF NOXUBEE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

Lisa M. Ross, Esq. MSB NO 514E East Woodrow Wilson Avenue P.O. Box 11264
Jackson, MS 39283-1264
(601) 981-7900 (Telephone)
(601) 981-7917 (Facsimile)

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT TRENT DORA

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

TRENT DORA

APPELLANT

V.

NO. 2008--KA-01914-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On or about September 15, 2008 and September 16, 2008, Trent Dora (hereinafter "Dora") was tried before a jury in the Circuit Court of Noxubee County, Mississippi on the charge of armed robbery. The jury found Dora guilty of simple robbery. At sentencing, on September 17, 2008, the prosecutor produced evidence that Dora had two previous felony convictions prior to his conviction for simple robbery. Judge Kitchens sentenced Dora to a term of fifteen years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections as a habitual offender. After his trial, Dora filed a motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict. His post-trial motion was denied. Dora appeals from the verdict of guilty on the charge of simple robbery and his sentence of fifteen years as a habitual offender.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. WHETHER THERE WAS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT A VERDICT OF SIMPLE ROBBERY
- 2. WHETHER THE MOTION FOR JUDGMENT NOTWITHSTANDING THE VERDICT WAS IMPROPERLY DENIED
- 3. WHETHER THE JURY WAS MISLED WHEN BYRON WINTERS DID NOT REVEAL HE WOULD BE REWARDED FOR HIS TESTIMONY AGAINST DORA
- 4. WHETHER TRENT DORA'S TRIAL COUNSEL'S PERFORMANCE WAS SO DEFICIENT THAT IT DEPRIVED AIM OF HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO COUNSEL AND A FAIR AND IMPARTIAL TRIAL
- 5. WHETHER THE CUMULATIVE ERRORS IN THIS CASE DEPRIVED DORA OF HIS RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Trent Dora is serving a prison term of fifteen years day for day for a simple robbery that did not occur. At Dora's two day trial, Dora testified. He called one witness: Andrea Joiner Little. The State of Mississippi called Katina Black, Police Chief Tina Williams, Dustin L. Jourdan, Calvin McCrary, Phyllis Hudson, Douglas Triplett, and Byron Winters. One day after testifying against Dora, Byron Winters, who like Dora was charged with the armed robbery, was sentenced to 3 years in the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

TRENT DORA'S TESTIMONY

On October 23, 2007, in Brooksville, Mississippi, Trent Dora ("Dora") was visiting Andrea Joiner Little ("Little") at the Brooksville Medical Clinic. Little, who was married at the time, describes Dora as a friend. (T. p. 264, l. 13). Dora, who also is married with children, says he and Little were more than friends. (T. p. 296, l. 14). On this particular morning, Dora went to the clinic where Little worked to "see Andrea about the housewarming, because we was classmates, and she was – she was the class president, and we supposed to move in that house like two weeks before the accident happened. I actually come to see her to get all my classmate's addresses, because we were going to send them invitations." (T. p. 296, l. 24-29). Accompanying Dora on this trip was his daughter. (T. p.273, l. 14).

The clinic where Little worked is located across the street from Tem's Food Market. In 2006, while on his way to his brother's mother-in-law's funeral, Dora stopped at Tem's Food Market. (T. p. 281, l. 8-9). He has not visited Tem's Food Market since 2006. While getting out of his car at the clinic, Dora "heard a scream, and that's what got my attention to look up, and when I looked up, a (sic) saw a female fall. And I seen a black male ran and, like, swiped a bag up. He ran beside the building, Tem's. So I immediately put my little daughter back in the

car, and I got back in the car, and I was backing up, looking to towards my left. A car was coming, so I waited on the car to pass and I seen a car leaving Tem's parking lot, driving real fast. I backed on up, and I drove off. I found the phone, I tried to call 911, but I called 1-411 first. Then I dialed 911. And I told them, I said, I just seen Katina Brooks, I said, I just seen Katina Brooks (sic) get robbed.... I said: Well, I noticed her when she running the store, that's when I – I knew it was her." (T. p. 273, 1. 29, p. 274, 1. 1).

Dora told the dispatcher "Well, I think, he was driving like a white or cream Toyota Camry, because when I was backing up, I only seen the back tire — back of the car.... I seen the car — when the car went around the curve, there's a stop sign, I seen the car make a right. That's why I said toward Macon. But he was still was in the town of Brooksville, but I said Macon because he made a right at the stop sign. And I pulled up to the stop sign, and I made a left." (T. p. 274, l. 7-17).

Dora says the dispatcher asked him "Well, could you chase him?" Dora responded, "No, I said, I can't chase him, because my daughter is with me. And I went on to Starkville." (T. p. 274, l. 18-19). Dora took his daughter to school in Starkville. (T. p. 280, l. 7-9).

When Dora called 911, he identified himself as "Tony." (T. p. 275, 1. 4-6). "When I called 911 and I told them what I saw, and she asked me for my name and number, I told her no, because I'm not supposed to be down here no way. She asked me again. I told her no. And she asked me again, and I said, my name is Tony, and my number is 2222, and I hung the phone up... Because I didn't want my wife finding out that I was down there." Dora explained that he called 911 because "Well, I saw what happened, and I wanted to let the police know what I saw. I saw a crime being committed." (T. p. 276, l. 10-12).

After Dora called 911, he received a telephone call from Brooksville Police Chief Tina Williams (hereinafter Chief Williams). (T. p. 276, l. 13-15). Chief Williams called Dora's cell telephone and asked "who is this?" Dora asked Chief Williams "who is this?" (T. p. 276, l. 18-22). Chief Williams identified herself. (T. p. 276, l. 22-23). Then, Dora identified himself as "Trent." (T. p. 276, l. 26). Dora told Chief Williams "I'm the one that called and said my name was Tony with that 222 number." (T. p. 276, l. 26-28). Chief Williams asked Dora, "why you do that?" (T. p. 276, l. 29). Dora responded "Well, I saw what happened, but I didn't want to be involved right there. And I didn't want my wife to find out that I was down there." (T. p. 277, l. 1-3).

Chief Williams asked Dora to come in to give a statement. (T. p. 276, l. 4-7). When Dora was on his way to speak to Chief Williams, he received a telephone called from Andrea Joiner. (T. p. 277, l. 12-14). Joiner told Dora "the police are asking questions about you." (T. p. 277, l. 13-14). Dora told Joiner "I am on my way down there now to straighten that out." (T. p. 277, l. 17).

Dora says that when he arrived in Brooksville, he called Chief Williams to determine where she wanted him to go. (T. p. 277, l. 21). "She told me to come to the City Hall, come to the side door. So I went in the side door, I sat down, and she asked me again why I gave the wrong information about my name being Tony, and the 222 number, and I told her gain (sic). And she asked me did I know anybody drive a white Toyota Avalon. And I asked her why, and she said: Well, we believe the car that did that, the guy that did the armed robbery, had a white Toyota Avalon." (T. p. 277, l. 22-29, p. 278, l. 1). Dora told Chief Williams "Well, the guy I know that got a white Toyota Avalon, it couldn't be him, because I just – saw him at the store, and he was headed back home." (T. p. 278, l. 2-4).

Prior to going to the clinic on October 23, 2007, Dora saw Byron Winters at a store in Starkville, Mississippi. Dora knew Byron Winters because Winters dated Dora's sister before moving to Atlanta, Georgia. On the morning of October 23, 2007, Dora and Winters exchanged pleasantries. Winters told Dora his was on his way back to Atlanta.

While Chief Williams was questioning Dora about the identity of the driver of the Toyota Avalon, Dora told her that the person lived in Atlanta, Georgia and his name is Byron Winters. (T. p. 278, l. 6-11). Dora called Winters in the presence of Chief Williams. (T. p. 278, l. 17-19).

Chief Williams asked Dora if Winters had a tag on his car and he told her that he didn't know. (T. p. 278, l. 25-28). When Dora called Winters, he asked him, "man, you got a tag on your car?" (T. p. 279, l. 6). Byron Winters told Dora that "he had Georgia plates on the tag." (T. p. 279, l. 17).

Ten days after speaking to Chief Williams Dora learned that a warrant had been issued for his arrest. Dora turned himself into the Brooksville Police Department. He was charged with armed robbery. Dora posted a \$300,000.00 bond and remained free until his trial.

BYRON WINTERS' TESTIMONY

Prior to moving to Georgia, Winters lived in Starkville. Winters met Dora while working at Wal-Mart in Starkville. (T. p. 178, l. 2-3). Winters transferred from the Mississippi Wal-Mart store to a Wal-Mart store in Georgia. (T. p. 178, l. 6-8). On October 23, 2007, Winters claims that "I had a friend working at Coke in Starkville, and he was having surgery. He had a hernia. So I was coming down to support him through his surgery. He had lost his dad that year, 2007." (T. p. 178, l. 25-29, p. 179, l. 1-3).

Winters says that he saw Dora at a store on South Montgomery and 82, Highway 82, on the corner. (T. p. 179, l. 18-20). "It was just by chance. I ran into him. I think he gets off work

that morning, like he works overnight." (T. p. 179, l. 21-24). Winters testified that he and Dora chatted. "Well, he had his little girl and his – his baby girl and his smaller, I guess five-year-old girl, and he said something, mentioned about picking up some money, actually...He was saying that he was – wanted me to go with him to pick up some money. Pretty much sounded like he was going to pick up some money." (T. p. 179, l. 29, p. 180, l. 1-3). "He was saying that he was – wanted me to go with him to pick up some money. Pretty much sounded like he was going to pick up some money...We, I didn't take it as a street, I was taking it as like we was doing something – and that – but he's never, like, did anything to harm me or anything, but I didn't take it as street slang as anything bad or anything." (T. p. 180, l. 4-14).

Winters says "Well, he described to me somebody was going to be – someone else was going to be involved." (T. p. 180, l. 15-18), Winters stated Dora told him Winters was to go to Tem's Food Market in Brooksville, Mississippi. (T. p. 180, l. 19-27). "He wanted me to wait behind – on the side of the building, behind Mrs. Katina's car." (T. p. 180, l. 29, p, 181, l. 1). Winters says he had never met Katina. (T. p. 181, l. 2-3). Winters claims that Dora told him "she would be coming out at a certain time of the – of the morning. She would be coming out of the store with a money bag." (T. p. 181, l. 10-19). "He told me the car that she would be – she would be going to, and he told me that she would be coming out the corner of the store. Well, he let me know by the brake lights across from – across from the store, because I could see him across from the store....It was actually brake lights to let me know that she was coming out of the store." (T. p. 181, l. 14-22). "He was wanting me to receive the money from her." (T. p. 181, l. 26-29).

Winters says that he discussed these matters with Dora when they left the store "and went to his house." (T. p. 182, I. 1-4). Dora denies that Winters visited his home on the morning of

October 23, 2007. (T.p. 271, l. 16). Winters says that before he and Dora left Starkville in route to Brooksville, "He had a baby girl, which he went to drop off at the day care center. So I stayed there with his older daughter, which was five....Before he returned, he called, because I was actually waiting there with her, talking to her, waiting on her bus. But he called to ask me had the bus came, which it hadn't came." (T. p. 182, l. 21-29, p. 183, l. 1-6). "He called back and asked he had it came, and I told him no, it still hadn't came, so he told me to put his little girl on the phone. Which she got on the phone with her dad, and he told her to get in the car with me, and she got in the car with me." (T. p. 183, l. 10-15). "I was leaving, going to Brooksville, and he said he was on his way to Brooksville, also, and I was behind him. I was going to meet up with him eventually, I knew." (T. p. 183, l. 18-20).

"I met up with him. I saw his car on the highway. I came up on him on the highway before we got to Brooksville, actually." (T. p. 183, 1. 29, p. 1-2). "I was hehind him, and he put on his signal light and turned off on the side of the road. And he got his daughter, and he also removed my tag from my car." (T. p. 184, 1. 3-7). "He actually put it in my car....From there, I followed him to Tem's, to the food market, to the place where we were going. And he pulled in at the clinic across the street, and I was sitting in my car, and she was directly – her car was directly in front of me. The car that he said that she would be going to was directly in front of me." (T. p. 84, 1. 8-18).

Winters says he waited in the parking lot for five to ten minutes before Black came out of the store. (T. p. 184, l. 19-23). Winters says his view to the front door of Tem's Food Market was obstructed. (T. p. 184, l. 24-29). "When I see her coming, I know that what he said – what he said is actually true. It's like what he's saying is going together, and I knew that that's what he was talking about, he was talking about her coming out of the store." (T. p. 185, l. 22-29).

"Before she get to her car, I'm actually getting out of my car, and she's going around to the passenger side of her car....And I – I meet up to actually get the bag from her, but it don't seem as she knew anything about what was going on...She's by the door, front door, of the passenger side of her vehicle...As I approach her, I observed Ms. Black attempting to back back, but at the same time she was getting rid of the – the bag she had in her hands, so she was backing back...As she was backing back, I was picking the bag up off the ground, because she – before she – she was actually throwing the bag, like getting rid of the bag out of her hand." (T. p. 186, I. 1-29, p. 187, I. 1-2). "I picked the bag up." (T. p. 188, I. 25-26). "I – at that point, I went to my car." (T. p. 188, I. 27-28). "I actually drove past her car, and she was still on the side, standing up. I could see her. She was standing up." (T. p. 189, I. 1-4).

Winters claims that he and Dora discussed what would happened after he got the money bag. (T. p. 189, l. 9-13). "He said that he would follow me away from the scene." Winters, however, said "I didn't see where he did. I didn't see where he followed me." (T. p. 189, l. 14-16). Winters claims that he and Dora met up to divide the loot. (T. p. 189, l. 17-18). "I saw him by a store on MSU campus, because when I left, I actually left through Crawford and through Sessum, and came up behind the store on – coming up behind MSU campus." Winters claims that Dora left him a note telling him where to go. (T. p. 190, l. 22-25). "He got in my car, and he gave me a portion of the money. He took the bag, and it was also – I saw some checks in the bag. He took the bag and the checks, and gave me a portion of the money." (T. p. 190, l. 26-29, p. 191, l. 1-3).

Winters testified that after they divided the proceeds, "at that point I put gas in my car, and I go back to Georgia." (T. p. 191, l. 12-15). Winters said Dora contacted him before he got to the toll bridge in Tuscaloosa, Alabama. (T. p. 191, l. 16-20). "He asked me—he just asked

me where I'm at. A (sic) I said, 'I'm in Alabama,' and he hangs up the phone." (T. p. 191, l. 21-23). When Winters made it to Georgia, he says his sister telephoned him and asked him to pick up his nieces from school. (T. p. 191, l. 24-29, p. 192, l. 1). After Winters picked his nieces up from school, they stopped by the store. (T. p. 192, 2-5). "I get (sic) them snacks, and at that point the police got behind me." (T. p. 192, 6-8). "At that point I realized that the police are behind me, and he was following me, and I exited onto 285, Interstate 285, and I speed up and I slow down, and he was still behind me. And I look back in my rearview, and it was like eight or twelve of them behind me." (T. p. 192, l. 9-14). "And they came to me with guns drawn, and my nieces yelled out and were screaming." (T. p. 192, l. 15-17). Winters was arrested on the scene. (T. p. 192, l. 18-19).

Winters testified that he never formed an intent to rob Katina Black. (T. p. 189, 1. 22-26, p. 207, l. 21-22). Winters says it was his understanding that he would be receiving a bag from Black. (T. p. 201, l. 19-26). "....That was my understanding that she was going to actually hand me the money bag." (T. p. 203, l. 1-4). At trial, Winters was asked, "Well, my question to you is did you have the intent to rob her, or was she going to give you that bag?" Winters responded, "I had no intention to rob her." (T. p. 201, l. 27-29, p. 205, l. 19-20). Winters says he had no weapon. Winters did not threaten Black to get her to drop the bag. (T. p. 202, l. 1-24). Winters did not ask Black for the bag. (T. p. 203, l. 24-29).

Winters says that he had a Blackberry cell phone on his waist area when he approached Black. (T. p. 187, l. 18-21). "It was clipped on my side." (T. p. 187, l. 22-24). "I actually put my hands toward her, but – and that's when she began to throw the bag and – bag back." (T. p. 187, l. 25-29). "It was a motion like if I was going to receive it, but she actually threw it, and I picked it up."

Winters says nobody was behind him when he left Tem's food market. (T. p. 209, l. 25-29, p. 210, l. 1-3). Winters says he saw a black car behind him but it did not follow him back to Crawford. (T. p. 210, l. 7-9).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

- 1. THE STATE DID NOT PRESENT SUFFICIENT PROOF TO ESTABLISH THAT KATINA WILLIAMS WAS ROBBED
- 2. THE MOTION FOR JUDGMENT NOTWITHSTANDING THE VERDICT WAS IMPROPERLY DENIED
- 3. THE PROSECUTOR MISLED THE JURY WHEN IT DID NOT INFORM THE JURY THAT BYRON WINTERS WOULD BE REWARDED FOR HIS TESTIMONY AGAINST TRENT DORA
- 4. TRENT DORA'S TRIAL COUNSEL'S PERFORMANCE WAS SO DEFICIENT THAT IT DEPRIVED DORA OF HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO COUNSEL AND A FAIR AND IMPARTIAL TRIAL
- 5. THE CUMULATIVE ERRORS IN THIS CASE DENIED TIMMS HIS RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL

ARGUMENT

THE STATE DID NOT PRESENT SUFFICIENT PROOF TO ESTABLISH THAT KATINA WILLIAMS WAS ROBBED

Mississippi Code Ann. § 97-3-79 provides that "Every person who shall feloniously take or attempt to take from the person or presence the personal property of another and against his will by violence to his person or by putting such person in fear of immediate injury to his person by the exhibition of a deadly weapon shall be guilty of robbery and, upon conviction, shall be imprisoned for life..." Due process requires that the State prove each element of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt. Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 324, 99 S.Ct. 2781, 61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1979). In Croft v. State, 992 So.2d 1151, 1158 (Miss. 2008), the Court stated that "robbery is a specific intent crime; as such, the State is required to prove a defendant took the personal property of another with the intent to permanently deprive that person of his property." The Court also noted that felonious intent, for purposes of robbery, "means the intent to steal." More importantly, this Court has stated that "specific intent to steal must be shown by the testimony in robbery cases." Croft, 992 So.2d at 1159, quoting Thomas v. State, 278 So.2d 469, 472 (Miss. 1973). In sum, this Court has stated that "there must be in the record evidence sufficient to establish each element of the crime." Fisher v. State, 481 So.2d 203, 211 (Miss. 1985).

In the instant case, the State did not present any evidence that Dora entered into an agreement with Winters to rob Black. Winters testified that when he went to Tem's Food Market on October 23, 2007, he had no intentions to rob Black. Winters testified that it was his understanding that Katina Black was going to give him a bag when she came out of Tem's Food Market. Winters also testified that when Black came out of Tem's Food Market, he approached her as she was walking toward her vehicle. Winters testified that Black began backing up as he

walked toward her. Winters and Black testified that she threw the bag on the ground. Winters retrieved the bag, got in his car and left the food market.

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