IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

TRENT DORA A/K/A SUB

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2008-KA-1914-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

**BY: BILLY L. GORE
SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
MISSISSIPPI BAR NO. [REDACTED]**

**OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL
POST OFFICE BOX 220
JACKSON, MS 39205-0220
TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680**

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

But Winters's testimony was not uncorroborated, thus foregoing any necessity that his testimony also be reasonable, not improbable, self-contradictory or substantially impeached. *See Hendrix v. State, supra*, 957 So.2d 1023 (Ct.App.Miss. 2007).

Corroboration was provided by the testimony of Katina Black, Chief Williams, and even Dora himself.

It is well settled "... that even slight corroboration will be sufficient to uphold a conviction." *Feranda v. State*, 267 So.2d 305 (Miss. 1972). *See also Young v. State*, 425 So.2d 1022, 1024 (Miss. 1983) ["Only slight corroboration of an accomplice's testimony is required to sustain a conviction."]

If the testimony of Winters is accepted as true, it is clear that Dora not only participated in the robbery, he was the instigator and chief architect - a principal, if you please.

"The jury is the **sole judge** of the weight and credibility of the evidence." *Byrd v. State*, 522 So.2d 756, 760 (Miss. 1988). This includes accomplice testimony. It's verdict will not be disturbed on appeal unless the failure to do so would sanction an "unconscionable injustice." *Groseclose v. State*, 440 So.2d 297, 300 (Miss. 1983).

The word "unconscionable" points to something that is monstrously harsh and shocking to the conscience. The verdict returned in the case at bar does not exist in this posture. It is neither harsh nor shocking, and affirmation of Dora's conviction(s) and sentence is the order of the day.

In ruling on the defendant's motion for a new trial, the trial judge - and this Court on appeal as well - must look at the evidence in the light most favorable to the State's theory of the case, i.e., "in the light most favorable to the verdict." *Herring v. State*, 691 So.2d 948, 957 (Miss. 1997), citing *Mitchell v. State*, 572 So.2d 865, 867 (Miss. 1990).

In **Bush v. State**, *supra*, 895 So.2d 836, 844 (¶18) (2005), the Supreme Court penned the following language also articulating the true rule:

When reviewing a denial of a motion for a new trial based on an objection to the weight of the evidence, we will only disturb a verdict when it is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice. *Herring v. State*, 691 so.2d 948, 957 (Miss. 1997). We have stated that on a motion for new trial,

The court sits as a thirteenth juror. The motion, however, is addressed to the discretion of the court, which should be exercised with caution, and the power to grant a new trial should be invoked only in exceptional cases in which the evidence preponderates heavily against the verdict.

Amiker v. Drugs for Less, Inc., 796 So.2d 942, 947 (Miss. 2000)/2 However, the evidence should be weighed in the light most favorable to the verdict. *Herring*, 691 So.2d at 957. A reversal on the grounds that the verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, “unlike a reversal based on insufficient evidence, does not mean that acquittal was the only proper verdict.” *McQueen v. State*, 423 So.2d 800, 803 (Miss. 1982). Rather, as the “thirteenth juror” the court simply disagrees with the jury’s resolution of the conflicting testimony. *Id.* This difference of opinion does not signify acquittal any more than a disagreement among the jurors themselves. *Id.* Instead, the proper remedy is to grant a new trial./3

Sitting as a limited “thirteenth juror” in this case, we cannot view the evidence in the light most favorable to the verdict and say that an unconscionable injustice resulted from this jury’s rendering of a guilty verdict. * * * ” [text of notes 2 and 3 omitted]

See also Chambliss v. State, *supra*, 919 So.2d 30, 33-34 (¶10) (Miss. 2005), quoting *Bush*, 895 So.2d at 844 (¶18).

In short, the jury’s verdict was not against the overwhelming weight of the credible evidence which does not preponderate in favor of Dora’s claim that no robbery actually took place.

In **Maiben v. State**, 405 So.2d 87, 88 (Miss. 1981), this Court announced that

. . . . we will not set aside a guilty verdict, absent other error, **unless it is clearly a result of prejudice, bias or fraud, or is manifestly against the weight of credible evidence.** [emphasis supplied]

The following observations made in **Groseclose v. State**, 440 So.2d 297, 300 (Miss. 1983), are also worth repeating here:

We will not order a new trial unless convinced that the verdict is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that, to allow it to stand, **would be to sanction an unconscionable injustice.** *Pearson v. State*, 428 So.2d 1361, 1364 (Miss. 1983). Any less stringent rule would denigrate the constitutional power and responsibility of the jury in our criminal justice system. [emphasis supplied]

In short, this Court will not set aside a guilty verdict unless the verdict is manifestly against the weight of credible evidence [**Maiben v. State**, 405 So.2d 87, 88 (Miss. 1981)] and unless this Court is convinced that to allow the verdict to stand, would be to sanction an unconscionable injustice. **Groseclose v. State**, 440 So.2d 297, 300 (Miss. 1983)

The case at bar certainly does not exist in this posture. This is not a case where the evidence preponderates heavily against the verdict or where allowing the verdict to stand would sanction or amount to an unconscionable injustice.

POINT 3.

NOTHING IN THIS RECORD SUGGESTS THE JURY WAS MISLED WHEN BYRON WINTERS DENIED HE WOULD BE REWARDED FOR HIS TESTIMONY.

Dora, citing **Bruce v. State**, 746 So.2d 901, 909-10 (¶39) (Ct.App.Miss. 1998), suggests the prosecutor withheld critical information by failing to inform the jury of “. . . the State’s intentions to give leniency to Winters in exchange for damaging testimony against Dora.” (Brief of the Appellant at 16)

This claim is devoid of merit because we cannot find within the four corners of the record any support for Dora's position that "[o]ne day after Dora was sentenced, Winters entered a guilty plea and was sentenced to three years in the custody of the MDOC." (Brief of the Appellant at 17) Dora's motion for a new trial, filed and adjudicated on September 19th three (3) days post-verdict (C.P. at 53) and two (2) days post-sentencing (C.P. at 358-63), makes no mention of the ultimate disposition of the charges against Winters. (C.P. at 64-66) Rather, Dora's allegations of a "deal" or leniency appear to be bare boned and conclusory allegations of fact. This Court cannot consider such facts here. **Genry v. State**, 735 So.2d 186, 200 (Miss. 1999) ["This Court 'cannot decide an issue based on assertions in the briefs alone; rather, issues must be proven by the record.'"]; **Wortham v. State**, 219 So.2d 923, 926-27 (Miss. 1969) ["We will not go outside the record to find facts and will not consider a statement of facts attempted to be supplied by counsel in briefs."] *See also* **Schuck v. State**, 865 So.2d 1111 (Miss. 2003) [Consideration of matters on appeal is limited strictly to matters contained in the trial record.]

The record falls short of demonstrating any sort of deal was in place at the time Winters testified at Dora's trial.

Winters's possible bias and interest in this cause was fully covered during defense counsel's cross-examination of Winters, and the point was also hammered home by counsel during closing argument. (R. 332-33)

This is not a case, ala **Hill v. State**, 512 So.2d 883, 884-85 (Miss. 1987), cited and relied upon by Dora, where defense counsel was denied the opportunity to inquire or prevented from inquiring "... into possible promises of leniency by the state and the disposition of criminal charges pending against the state's witnesses." Such, we acknowledge, "are proper areas for interrogation."

In the case at bar, Dora's lawyer, without one whit of interference, freely, fully, and fairly inquired into the matter of a possible deal and possible promises of leniency by the State.

During cross-examination of Winters by defense counsel, the following colloquy took place:

Q. Okay. And I believe you're under indictment for armed robbery --

A. (Witness nods head affirmatively).

Q. -- for being involved in this crime, right?

A. Right.

Q. And I believe you have an attorney representing you, right?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. You understand today you're a witness for the prosecution, testifying against Mr. Dora, right?

A. Right.

Q. Are you of the opinion that you expect to get some favorable treatment from -- in your case --

A. No.

Q. -- concerning your case on -- with your voluntary testimony today?

A. No.

Q. Have they promised you anything?

A. No.

Q. You don't expect to get any favorable treatment?

A. No, sir.

Q. You haven't talked to your lawyer about that before you took the stand today.

A. No, sir.

Q. Then it's your testimony here that you don't expect to get anything out of your testimony?

A. No, sir.

Q. All right. Well, then why are you testifying?

A. Why am I - - because it's a wrong action. I did wrong, and I think you should admit to wrongs.

Q. Okay.

A. We were wrong, we were wrong. If you did wrong, you did wrong. (R. 198-99)

* * * * *

Q. Mr. Winters, would it be a fair statement that you're up here today to help yourself? You're not up here to help Mr. Dora today, are you?

A. I'm up here today to help law enforcement. (R. 213)

During closing argument defense counsel argued

“ . . . that Mr. Byron Winters is looking after himself, and nobody else. He wants the best he can get in a deal, that that's the reason he was testifying for the State of Mississippi. He was a witness for the State.

* * * * *

So what does Mr. Winters do when he gets back over here in the jail, and still in jail and can't make bond? What does he do? I got to help myself. I'm just - - he - - he turned on me and gave some information on me. I'm going to fix him. I'll fix him. I'll just implicate him in the crime, so I can get me a deal. And when he did that, they went and picked the man up and charged him with armed robbery.

I submit to you ladies and gentlemen, the testimony of Mr. Winters and the statement of Mr. Winters that was given to the law enforcement authorities is the sole reason why that man was charged. That's the only reason. (R. 339)

The record does not support the idea that Winters was promised any sentencing leniency via a so-called “deal” in exchange for his testimony against Dora. Nevertheless, the jury was well aware that Winters had been charged with the same offense and had been incarcerated for a year. (R. 199) In assessing Winters’s credibility, the jury was not precluded from taking into consideration Winters’s reason and motivation for testifying in this cause and any interest he may have had in its outcome.

Dora received jury instruction S-6, a strongly worded cautionary charge advising the jury the testimony of an accomplice was to be weighed with “great care and caution.” (C.P. at 40) Thus, the jury was well aware of Winter’s interest in this cause and may have given it a great deal of consideration in assessing Winters’s credibility. For the above reasons, Dora’s complaint is unpersuasive.

POINT 4.

THE DEFENDANT HAS FAILED ON DIRECT APPEAL TO MAKE OUT A CLAIM *PRIMA FACIE* OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF TRIAL COUNSEL. THE RECORD FAILS TO AFFIRMATIVELY REFLECT INEFFECTIVENESS OF CONSTITUTIONAL DIMENSIONS.

Appellate counsel, perhaps with the refractive aid of hindsight and back-focal lenses, assails the effectiveness of trial counsel, Mr. James E. Brown, Jr. Apparently, the only deficiency in his performance was his failure to seek a jury instruction on simple assault which, according to Dora, is a lesser included offense of robbery. This alleged lapse of trial counsel, a “sin” of omission as opposed to commission, is insufficient to reflect representation lacking in constitutional sufficiency.

Although the record, in our opinion, is factually adequate for a determination by a reviewing court that trial counsel was not ineffective for the reason Dora now claims, we defer to the cases which have declined to address the issue without prejudice to the appellant’s right to raise it *de novo*

in a post-conviction environment.

The ground rules for resolving this complaint were first set forth in **Read v. State**, 430 So.2d 832, 841 (Miss. 1983), where this Court stated:

(1) Any defendant convicted of a crime may raise the issue of ineffective assistance of counsel on direct appeal, even though the matter has not first been presented to the trial court. The Court should review the entire record on appeal. If, for example, from a review of the record, as in *Brooks v. State*, 209 Miss. 150, 46 So.2d 94 (1950) or *Stewart v. State*, 229 So.2d 53 (Miss. 1969), this Court can say that the defendant has been denied the effective assistance of counsel, the court should also adjudge and reverse and remand for a new trial. *See also, State v. Douglas*, 97 Idaho 878, 555 P.2d 1145, 1148 (1976).

(2) Assuming that the Court is unable to conclude from the record on appeal that defendant's trial counsel was constitutionally ineffective, the Court should then proceed to decide the other issues in the case. Should the case be reversed on other grounds, the ineffectiveness issue, of course, would become moot. **On the other hand, if the Court should otherwise affirm, it should do so without prejudice to the defendant's right to raise the ineffective assistance of counsel issue via appropriate post-conviction proceedings.** If the Court otherwise affirms, **it may nevertheless reach the merits of the ineffectiveness issue where (a) as in paragraph (1) above, the record affirmatively shows ineffectiveness of constitutional dimensions, or (b) the parties stipulate that the record is adequate and the court determines that findings of fact by a trial judge able to consider the demeanor of witnesses, etc. are not needed.**

(3) If, after affirmance as in paragraph (2) above, the defendant wishes to do so, he may then file an appropriate post-conviction proceeding raising the ineffective assistance of counsel issue. *See Berry v. State*, 345 So.2d 613 (Miss. 1977); *Callahan v. State, supra*. Assuming that his application states a claim, *prima facie*, he will then be entitled to an evidentiary hearing on the merits of that issue in the Circuit Court of the county wherein he was originally convicted.⁵ Once the issue has been formally adjudicated by the Circuit Court, of course, the defendant will have the right to appeal to this Court as in other cases. [emphasis supplied; text of note 5 omitted]

The language found in the recent cases of **McLaurin v. State**, *supra*, No. 2008-KA-00814-COA decided November 17, 2009, (¶¶ 14-17) slip opinion at 5-6 [Not Yet Reported] and **Drummond v. State**, *supra*, No. 2008-KP-00313-COA decided October 27, 2009, (¶¶14 and 15) slip opinion at 7-8 [Not Yet Reported], control the posture of Dora's complaint:

Drummond contends that defense counsel's failure to object when the State was attempting to elicit hearsay testimony from the victim amounted to ineffective assistance of counsel. Drummond also argues that defense counsel was ineffective because counsel never attempted to impeach Moffett with his prior testimony. This Court does not generally consider an ineffective-assistance-of-counsel claim on direct appeal.

The Mississippi Supreme Court has stated that:

It is unusual for this [c]ourt to consider a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel when the claim is made on direct appeal. This is because we are limited to the trial court record in our review of the claim[,] and there is usually insufficient evidence within the record to evaluate the claim. The Mississippi Supreme Court has stated that, where the record cannot support an ineffective assistance of counsel claim on direct appeal, the appropriate conclusion is to deny relief, preserving the defendant's right to argue the same issue through a petition for post-conviction relief. This Court will rule on the merits on the rare occasions where (1) the record affirmatively shows ineffectiveness of constitutional dimensions, or (2) the parties stipulate that the record is adequate to allow the appellate court to make the finding without consideration of the findings of fact of the trial judge."

Wilcher v. State, 863 So.2d 776, 825 (¶171) (Miss. 2003) (internal citations and quotations omitted). The record does not affirmatively indicate Drummond suffered denial of effective assistance of counsel of constitutional dimensions, and the parties have not stipulated that the record was adequate to allow the appellate court to make a finding without considering the finding of facts by the trial judge. Thus, we decline to address this issue without prejudice to Drummond's right to seek post-conviction relief, if he so chooses.

Drummond v. State, *supra*, No. 2008-KP-00313-COA decided October 27, 2009, (¶ 15) slip opinion at 8 [Not Yet Reported].

In the **McLaurin** case this court stated the following:

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